Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-14-2015

Charboneau v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43015

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

The state appeals from the district court's judgment granting Jaimi Charboneau's fifth petition for post-conviction relief from his 1986 conviction for the first-degree murder of his ex-wife, Marilyn Arbaugh. In this case Charboneau claimed that in 2011 a prison guard handed him an envelope containing several documents. The documents included a copy of a letter allegedly written by Tira Arbaugh, the victim's daughter and a witness at his criminal trial, which Charboneau alleged substantiated the claims he had asserted in his third petition for post-conviction relief. Charboneau claimed other documents in the envelope established the state's efforts to keep him from obtaining this letter from 1989 on, although most of these documents were proved to be forgeries. The district court nevertheless found that prison personnel had suppressed the letter from 2003 to 2011, and on that basis granted Charboneau a new trial in his criminal case.

The state appeals the judgment, asserting that the district court erred by (1) finding that the statute of limitations did not bar the claim even though the same claim was found to be time-barred in Charboneau's third petition; (2) concluding that three documents, including two written by persons who died before this case was initiated, were admissible hearsay; (3) finding that suppression of evidence by prison personnel years after completion of the criminal trial was a *Brady* violation that prejudiced Charboneau's criminal trial; (4) explicitly considering inadmissible evidence of prior bad acts to show actions

in conformity with character. Because of its long involvement in the underlying criminal and related post-conviction cases the state requests that this case be retained by the Idaho Supreme Court.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

I. <u>The Criminal Case</u>

A. The Charges And Pre-trial Proceedings

The state filed a complaint charging Charboneau with first-degree kidnapping and grand theft for abducting his ex-wife, Marilyn Arbaugh, and stealing her car on June 21, 1984. (#16339 R., vol. I, pp. 1-3.) Shortly thereafter the state filed a complaint charging him with the July 1, 1984 first-degree murder of Marilyn. (#16339 R., vol. I, p. 4.)

The case proceeded to preliminary hearing where Marilyn's oldest daughter, Tiffnie Arbaugh, was called as a witness by the state. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 81, Ls. 1-3.¹) The victim's youngest daughter, Tira Arbaugh, was called by the defense. (P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 282, Ls. 21-23.) Both Tira and Tiffnie testified that on the morning of the murder they were awakened when their mother, Marilyn, returned home at around 10:30 or 11:00. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 87, Ls. 7-21; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 285, L. 5 – p. 287, L. 16.) Their mother had brought them some magazines that they looked at together. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 88, L. 24 – p. 89, L. 9; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 287, L. 17 – p. 288, L. 2.) Marilyn then took a bath. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 89, Ls. 10-15; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 288, Ls. 1-16.) After her bath,

¹ The preliminary hearing and trial transcripts from the underlying criminal case are part of the record in docket no. 16339, and are cited, respectively, as "P.H. Tr." and "Trial Tr."

Marilyn went out to the phone, located in a shop near the house, to call her parents, while Tira got in the bath. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 89, L. 21 – p. 90, L. 16; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 288, L. 20 – p. 289, L. 7.) Marilyn returned about ten minutes later, asking if the girls had turned the horses out into the corral. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 89, Ls. 23-24; p. 91, Ls. 6-25; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 289, Ls. 14-23.) She then went back out to put the horses back. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 93, Ls. 2-4; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 297, L. 24 – p. 298, L. 4.)

Shortly after Marilyn left the house to move the horses, Tiffnie heard shots and both Tira and Tiffnie heard their mother scream. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 93, Ls. 5-17, p. 95, Ls. 16-24; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 298, Ls. 5-25.) Tiffnie grabbed her mother's .22 pistol and ran outside to investigate. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 96, L. 4 – p. 97, L. 8; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 298, L. 17 - p. 299, L. 21.) She found Charboneau with a .22 rifle in his hands, standing over her mother, who was sitting on the ground and bleeding. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 97, L. 9 – p. 99, L. 19; p. 112, L. 22 – p. 113, L. 1.) Charboneau told Tiffnie to leave, and that he would take Marilyn to the doctor. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 99, Ls. 20-23.) Tiffnie called the police. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 100, Ls. 22-25.) She then ran to get Tira out of the bath. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 101, Ls. 8-19; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 299, L. 24 - p. 300, L. 20.) While Tira dressed, Tiffnie hid the keys to the pickup in the freezer to make sure Charboneau could not get them and escape. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 101, L. 16 – p. 102, L. 7.) Moments later, while both girls dressed, they heard more shots. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 102, L. 16 – p. 103, L. 4; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 302, L. 10 – p. 303, L. 9; p. 327, L. 16 – p. 328, L. 19.)

Both girls went back out and hid behind a sheep wagon. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 103, Ls. 5-9; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 300, L. 22 – p. 301, L. 4.) They called out to their mother. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 103, Ls. 10-23; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 301, Ls. 7-9.) Tiffnie accidentally discharged the .22 pistol, and then took it back inside the house. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 103, L. 24 – p. 104, L. 6; P.H. Tr., vol. 2, p. 303, L. 12 – p. 304, L. 12.) The girls went to the barn and found their mother lying there dead. (P.H. Tr., vol. 1, p. 104, L. 7 – p. 107, L. 20.)

The magistrate bound Charboneau over on all charges, and the state filed informations charging first-degree murder in one case and first-degree kidnapping and grand theft in another. (#16339 R., vol. I, pp. 76-83.) The cases were consolidated for trial. (#16339 R., vol. I, pp. 111-12; #16339 Supp. Tr., vol. I, p. 48, Ls. 3-12.)

Charboneau filed a motion to dismiss and testified in support of that motion. (#16339 R., vol. II, pp. 339-342; #16339 Supp. Tr., p. 102, L. 1 – p. 325, L. 18.) He testified he purchased a .22 rifle, two boxes of shells, and some gift wrap to present the rifle to Tira as a gift. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 137, L. 15 – p. 139, L. 7.) He then went out to the ranch where Marilyn and the girls lived. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 140, L. 3 – p. 141, L. 7.) He claimed he lived in the tack shed on the property for the next three days prior to the murder, with Marilyn's permission, because Marilyn was waiting for the right time to tell the girls about her and Charboneau's reconciliation. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 140, L. 24 – p. 151, L. 14.) Charboneau testified that Marilyn made the decision to tell the girls of the reconciliation on Sunday morning and also decided to give Tira the rifle

Charboneau purchased. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 151, L. 12 – p. 152, L. 22.) Charboneau testified that Marilyn took the rifle into the house and returned a few minutes later with the rifle, but without the scope that had been on it. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 152, L. 23 – p. 153, L. 10.) As Charboneau put on his boots, she loaded the rifle. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 153, Ls. 10-22.)

According to Charboneau, when he asked Marilyn where she had spent the previous night she announced she could not "take it," told him she loved him, but that she could not live with or without him. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 153, L. 23 – p. 154, L. 13.) She pointed the rifle at him and said, "You're dead. No other woman is going to have you." (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 154, Ls. 14-16.) She pulled the trigger but the gun did not fire. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 154, Ls. 16-19.)

Charboneau testified that he then wrestled the rifle away from Marilyn while Marilyn screamed at Tiffnie to get "Rufus," her shotgun. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 154, L. 20 – p. 155, L. 7.) Once Charboneau had the .22 rifle, Marilyn ran toward the house. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 155, Ls. 7-9.) Tiffnie exited the house with the .22 pistol. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 155, Ls. 9-11.) Charboneau testified that at that point he closed his eyes and the rifle in his hands just "went off ... four or five times." (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 155, Ls. 11-16.)

Charboneau claimed he opened his eyes and saw Marilyn bleeding from her shoulder and leg. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 155, Ls. 17-25.) He knelt down beside her and she apologized for "all the lies" she had told him. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 156, Ls. 1-6.) Charboneau testified that at that moment Tiffnie ran at them and shot "two or three times." (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 156, Ls. 7-11.) Assuming

she was shooting at him, he fled. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 156, Ls. 10-19.) He came back, however, and saw Tiffnie shoot Marilyn one time. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 156, L. 20 – p. 157, L. 11.) When Tiffnie left the scene he retrieved the rifle and fled to a nearby field. (#16339 Supp. Tr., p. 157, L. 12 – p. 158, L. 11.)

The district court denied the motion to dismiss on November 27, 1984. (#16339 R., vol. II, pp. 437-38.) Shortly after denial of the motion to dismiss, the district court appointed Deputy Attorney General Marc Haws as special prosecutor. (#16339 R., vol. II, pp. 452-53.)

B. The Trial

At the criminal trial the state presented the following evidence:

On June 22, 1984, Marilyn Arbaugh fled out the hatchback of her car on a rural road to escape her ex-husband, Jaime Charboneau, who had abducted her after work the previous day and refused to take her home. (Trial Tr., vol. 1., p. 50, L. 5 – p. 68, L. 20; p. 74, L. 5 – p. 85, L. 5; <u>see also</u>, p. 196, L. 20 – p. 205, L. 8; p. 231, L. 13 – p. 242, L. 23; vol. 2, p. 260, L. 8 – p. 266, L. 7.) Charboneau had choked Marilyn unconscious and she had bruising on her head, neck and breast. (Trial Tr., vol. 1, p. 94, L. 5 – p. 103, L. 2; p. 150, L. 21 – p. 151, L. 24; p. 155, L. 24 – p. 156, L. 22.) The Sherriff's office put out an alert for Charboneau and the car, and a judge issued an arrest warrant. (Trial Tr., vol. 1, p. 151, L. 25 – p. 157, L. 11.)

After Marilyn fled from the car, Charboneau went to a casino in Nevada. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1231, L. 2 – p. 1232, L. 10.) Police later discovered Marilyn's briefcase, which she always carried in her car and which contained important

papers, discarded near that casino. (Trial Tr., vol. 1, p. 108, L. 7 – p. 119, L. 6; p. 122, L. 5 – p. 130, L. 8; p. 143, L. 2 – p. 145, L. 1.)

On June 26, 1984, south of Mountain Home, witnesses saw Charboneau in possession of the backpack Marilyn used as a purse. (Trial Tr., vol. 2, p. 290, L.22 – p. 293, L. 17; p. 365, L. 7 – p. 368, L. 21.) Charboneau was using the name "Sam," claiming he worked for the government, and claiming at different times he was walking because (1) his truck had recently run out of gas, (2) his horse had gotten loose after being spooked by a rattlesnake, or (3) he shot his horse because it was bitten by a rattlesnake. (Trial Tr., vol. 2, p. 378, L. 14 – p. 386, L. 23; p. 401, L. 24 – p. 419, L. 2; vol. 3, p. 506, L. 4 – p. 510, L. 20; p. 514, L. 25 – p. 526, L. 11.) The next day, June 27, 1984, Marilyn's burned out car (minus VIN plate and license plates) was found in the same area where Charboneau was hitchhiking, and tracks consistent with Charboneau's boots were all around it. (Trial Tr., vol. 2, p. 420, L. 2 – p. 441, L. 25; p. 451, L. 7 – p. 470, L. 17.)

Charboneau got a ride to Hagerman on June 27, 1984. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. p. 514, L. 25 – p. 526, L. 11.) That same day he tried to buy a .22 caliber Remington rifle from the local hardware store, completing the transaction (and also buying two boxes of ammunition) on the 28^{th} when the store owners brought the gun in from their other store in Gooding. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 534, L. 24 – p. 542, L. 19; p. 554, L. 2 – p. 560, L. 1; p. 572, L. 17 – p. 573, L. 7; p. 575, L. 9 – p. 576, L. 12.) The Remington rifle held up to fifteen bullets at a time and was easy to reload. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 859, Ls. 23-25; vol. 5, p. 1169, L. 14 – p. 1170, L.

2; p. 1171, L. 24 – p. 1172, L. 19.) Charboneau claimed he was working in the desert and needed the Remington Rifle to kill rattlesnakes. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 556, Ls. 2-5; p. 559, L. 24 – p. 560, L. 1; p. 573, L. 22 – p. 574, L. 6.)

Charboneau had threatened Marilyn in April of 1984, telling her that if he could not have her no man could. (Trial Tr., vol. 2, p. 327, L. 15 – p. 331, L. 20; vol. 5, p. 1247, L. 13 – p. 1250, L. 3.) On the day immediately preceding the murder, Marilyn repeatedly expressed her fear of Charboneau. (Trial Tr., vol. 2, p. 260, L. 20 – p. 262, L. 24; p. 331, L. 21 – p. 337, L. 21.)

On July 1, 1984, the day of the murder, Marilyn arrived home at about 10:00 to 10:30 in the morning, having spent the night out on a date. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 614, L. 9 – p. 620, L. 20; p. 701, L. 3 – p. 702, L. 1; vol. 6, p. 1252, L. 14 – p. 1261, L. 11.) She took a bath and got dressed. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 620, L. 21 – p. 623, L. 5; vol. 6, p. 1261, Ls. 12-16; p. 1262, Ls. 1-18.) She left the house and went to the shed (where the phone was) and called her father at 11:30 a.m. to ask if he had heard from the Sherriff's office regarding its search for Charboneau, something she did every time she came home because she did not have a phone in her house, and she was scared of Charboneau. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 587, L. 24 – p. 590, L. 4; p. 623, Ls. 6-22; vol. 6, p. 1261, Ls. 15-16.) When she returned she asked her daughters, Tira and Tiffnie, if either of them had turned loose the horses. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 623, L. 6 – p. 625, L. 6; p. 637, L. 13 – p. 638, L. 3; vol. 6, p. 1262, L. 19 – p. 1263, L. 15.) She then left the house again to corral the horses. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 638, Ls. 4-23.)

Shortly after Marilyn left the house, Charboneau shot her and she screamed. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 638, L. 24 – p. 640, L. 4.) Her daughter Tiffnie grabbed her mother's pistol and went out to the barn. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 640, Ls. 5-20; vol. 6, p. 1263, L. 16 – p. 1264, L. 20.) In the barn, in an alleyway between corrals, Tiffnie saw her mother sitting on the ground with Charboneau standing over her pointing a rifle at her. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 640, L. 18 – p. 642, L. 16.) Marilyn had a hand to one shoulder, staunching a flow of blood, and she was also bleeding from one leg. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 641, Ls. 7-25.) Both Charboneau and Marilyn told Tiffnie to leave. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 643, L. 4 – p. 644, L. 3.)

Tiffnie ran to the shop, called the police, and reported that Charboneau had shot her mother. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 644, Ls. 4-7.) The dispatcher described her as "very hysterical, crying, screaming into the phone." (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 734, L. 18 – p. 737, L. 3.) Tiffnie then ran back to the house, got Tira out of the bath, and they both dressed. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 644, Ls. 8-19; vol. 6, p. 1264, L. 21 – p. 1265, L. 24.) As they got dressed they heard more shots. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 644, L. 20 – p. 645, L. 6; vol. 6, p. 1267, L. 3 – p. 1268, L. 25; p. 1303, Ls. 21-24.) The sisters left the house together and eventually entered the barn where they saw their mother's body. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 645, L. 7 – p. 662, L. 21; vol. 6, p. 1269, L. 1 – p. 1270, L. 17.) Marilyn's shirt had been pulled down to expose her left breast. (Trial Tr., p. 663, Ls. 2-7.)

Tira called for an ambulance. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 662, Ls. 22-24; vol. 6, p. 1270, Ls. 17-25.) She was hysterical and reported that "Jamie [sic] had a gun" and had gone out the back way. (Trial Tr., vol. 3, p. 738, L. 21 – p. 740, L. 3.)

Charboneau was arrested a short distance away not long after police were dispatched. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p.751, L. 6 – p. 766, L. 17; p. 881, L. 1 – p. 886, L. 12.) After being informed he was under arrest for murder, Charboneau claimed he killed Marilyn because she would have shot him and she had shot him once before, and indicated where he had thrown the rifle. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 766, L. 18 – p. 769, L. 24; p. 886, L. 13 – p. 889, L. 4.) The Remington rifle Charboneau had purchased on June 28 was found nearby. (Trial Tr., p. 796, L. 18 – p. 798, L. 14; p. 892, Ls. 14-24; p. 895, L. 2 – p. 899, L. 19.) There was blood on the end of the barrel from "blowback type splatter." (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 898, Ls. 10-23; p. 901, Ls. 2-24.)

The floor of the alleyway in the barn was covered by approximately three inches of hay stems and clippings and manure on top of dirt. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 772, L. 1 – p. 773, L. 6.) Several officers and others were in that area during the investigation. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 773, L. 7 – p. 780, L. 3.) Officers found seven spent Remington .22 caliber bullet casings in the barn. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 780, Ls. 4-8; p. 784, L. 2 – p. 796, L. 17; p. 934, L. 9 – p. 945, L. 17.²) Marilyn's backpack, the same one Charboneau possessed after Marilyn fled from him, was found in the cellar by the barn; among the items in the backpack were the boxes of shells Charboneau purchased in Hagerman, one full and one only partly full. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 800, L. 9 – p. 807, L. 3; p. 980, L. 19 – p. 998, L. 7.)

² Another .22 casing was found near the sheep wagon; although it was photographed, and the photograph admitted into evidence, the casing was not retained as evidence. (Trial Tr., vol. 4, p. 906, L. 24 – p. 916, L. 13.)

Autopsies on Marilyn's body revealed between 14 and 17 entrance wounds, assuming no ricochets to bring the number even lower. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1040, Ls. 16-20; p. 1083, L. 14 - p. 1086, L. 5.) There were four entrance wounds in her right upper mid-chest that appeared to have been inflicted at long range (greater than two and one-half feet), and would have been fatal wounds. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1044, L. 1 – p. 1050, L. 12; p. 1055, L. 2 – p. 1056, L. 19; p. 1063, L. 1 - p. 1064, L. 9; p. 1068, Ls. 12-18.) A fifth entrance wound was directly under the left breast, and was produced by putting the muzzle of the rifle directly against the skin under the breast before firing. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1050, L. 13 – p. 1054, L. 23; p. 1068, Ls. 12-18; p. 1166, L. 7 – p. 1167, L. 11.) A sixth entrance wound in the upper left chest corresponded with an exit wound, and was in the nature of a flesh wound that would not have been fatal. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1066, Ls. 1-18.) A seventh entrance wound in the lower abdomen was also long range and corresponded with an exit wound. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1069, L. 15 - p. 1070, L. 12.) There were three entrance wounds in the thigh, two of which exited and one of which broke the femur. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1071, L. 13 – p. 1075, L. 18.) Another entrance wound was in an ankle. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1075, L. 19 – p. 1077, L. 10.) There was an entrance wound in the left calf, and the bullet was recovered. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1080, Ls. 2-19.) Entrance and exit wounds were found in the right hand, indicating that the same bullet may have caused another of the entrance wounds if it passed through the hand and entered the body. (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1077, L. 11 – p. 1080, L. 1.) Marilyn had also been shot in the back of the left shoulder (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1080, L. 20 – p.

1081, L. 12) and in the back of the neck with the bullet exiting beneath her left ear (Trial Tr., vol. 5, p. 1081, L. 13 – p. 1082, L. 22).

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