UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-10-2016

Charboneau v. State Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 43015

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

C. <u>The State's "Due Process" Argument Is Not Properly Before This Court Because</u> <u>It Was Not Preserved, And It Fails On Its Merits Because The Government Is Not</u> <u>Entitled To Due Process Of Law</u>

In complaining about the district court's alleged "extra-judicial investigation" and "ex parte" consideration of inadmissible evidence, the State rests its appellate claim

invitation to make an affirmative finding of non-involvement without even reaching the IPAA's claim concerning Mr. Haw's due process rights.

upon a due process theory. (*See* App. Br., pp.73-74.) Although it never identifies the origin of its claimed right to due process, it cites a number of cases interpreting the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (*See* App. Br., pp.73-74 (citing, *inter alia*, *Turner v. Louisiana*, 379 U.S. 466 (1965), *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. 717 (1961), and *Roll v. City of Middleton*, 115 Idaho 833 (Ct. App. 1989)).)⁸⁴

For the reasons detailed below, the State's arguments are not properly before this Court and, even if they were, they fail on their merits because the State is not entitled to the due process protections conferred by the Fourteenth Amendment.

1. The State Failed To Preserve Its Due Process Argument Below

At Mr. Charboneau's October 16-17, 2013 evidentiary hearing, the State objected to Mr. Charboneau's counsel's attempted cross-examination of Mr. Haws concerning his prior *Brady* violation in *Paradis*. (*See* Evid. Tr., p.,436, L.10 – p.438, L.5.) Those objections were based on Idaho Rules of Evidence 401, 403, and 404(b). (*See id.*, p.436, L.10 – p.438, L.5.) Nearly a year later, at the September 19, 2014 hearing on Mr. Charboneau's motion for summary disposition, the State again objected when Mr. Charboneau's counsel started discussing Mr. Haws' misconduct in *Paradis*—this time just based on Rule 404(b). (*See id.*, p.650, L.11 – p.651, L.14.) Thus, in its

⁸⁴ In *Roll*, the Court of Appeals did not identify the origin of the due process right at issue; however, it quoted *Irvin v. Dowd*, which was a Fourteenth Amendment case. *See Roll*, 115 Idaho at 837.

Besides *Turner*, *Irvin*, and *Roll*, the State cites two other cases—*Idaho Historic Preservation Council v. City Council of the City of Boise*, 134 Idaho 651 (2000), and *Laurino v. Board of Professional Discipline*, 137 Idaho 596 (2002)—in support of its due process argument. *Laurino* was not based on due process standards at all, but the standards set forth Idaho Administrative Procedures Act. *See Laurino*, 137 Idaho at 601. And while *Idaho Historic Preservation Council* spoke in terms of due process without explicitly identifying the origin of the due process right at issue, viewed in context, the *Idaho Historic Preservation Council* Court was clearly speaking in terms of the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of procedural due process.

objections, the State never presented any argument based upon a purported right to due process of law.

As the State observes, after ruling that evidence of Mr. Haws' prior *Brady* violation was inadmissible for purposes of Mr. Charboneau's 2013 evidentiary hearing, the district court twice thereafter mentioned Mr. Haws' prior *Brady* violation—once in its April 14, 2014 findings of fact and conclusions of law (*see* R. Vol. 3, p.137), and a second time in its March 23, 2015 order granting Mr. Charboneau's motion for summary disposition (*see* R. Vol. 4, p.542). After neither order did the State ever seek reconsideration on the basis that the district court's reference to Mr. Haws' *Brady* violation in *Paradis* was error, much less that it violated the State's due process rights. (*See* R. Vol. 3, pp.147-875; R. Vol. 4, pp.1-686; 9/19/14 Tr., pp.639-772; 4/10/15 Tr., pp.1-14.)

In other words, the State's new "due process" argument was never presented to the district court. As such, it was not preserved for appeal. And it is well-established that the appellant generally may not raise unpreserved issues for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g., McCoy v. State*, 129 Idaho 70, 74 (1996) ("This Court has repeatedly held that issues which are raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered. . . . Because these claims were not raised before the district court in the civil post-conviction proceedings, we hold that they are not properly before the Court and will not be considered."). Because the State's new "due process" argument was not presented below, it should not be considered on appeal.

2. <u>The State's Argument Fails On Its Merits Because The Government Is Not</u> Entitled To The Due Process Protections Of The Fourteenth Amendment

As noted, although the State fails to explicitly identify the origin of its claimed right to due process, it cites a number of cases applying the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause. Apparently then, it believes it is entitled to the protections of the Fourteenth Amendment. The State is incorrect.

The Fourteenth Amendment provides a right of due process to the people of each state *vis-à-vis* the governments of each such state.⁸⁵ It provides, in relevant part, as follows:

Nor shall any State make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; *nor shall any State deprive any person* of *life*, *liberty*, *or property*, *without due process of law*; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV (emphasis added). Because the State is not a "person," the Fourteenth Amendment does not give it a right of due process as against itself or its citizens. *See South Carolina v. Katzenbach*, 383 U.S. 301, 323-24 (1966) ("The word 'person' in the context of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment cannot, by any reasonable mode of interpretation, be expanded to encompass the States of the Union, and to our knowledge this has never been done by any court."), *abrogated on other grounds by Shelby County v. Holder*, _U.S. _, 133 S. Ct. 2612 (2013); *Bain v. City of Springfield*, 678 N.E.2d 155, 162 (Mass. 1997) ("The Fourteenth Amendment protects persons against exercises of State power; it has never been applied—and its text would hardly permit that it be so applied—to protect the state or its political

⁸⁵ Of course the Fifth Amendment provides such a right of due process *vis-à-vis* the federal government. See U.S. CONST. amend. V.

subdivisions against persons. *See South Carolina v. Katzenbach*"). Because the State has no Fourteenth Amendment rights, its claim in this case necessarily fails.⁸⁶

3. <u>To The Extent The State May Rely On A Rule, Statute, Or Constitutional</u> Provision Other Than The Fourteenth Amendment For The Proposition <u>That The State Was Entitled To Due Process Below, The State Waived</u> <u>Any Such Argument On Appeal By Failing To Identify That Authority Or</u> <u>Provide Any Argument In Support Of A Claim That The State Had A Right</u> <u>To Due Process</u>

As noted, the State's Appellant's Brief is not entirely clear as to the origin of its claimed right to due process, although it appears to rely on the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause (which, as noted, simply does not grant such a right to the State). However, to the extent that the State seeks to rely upon another authority for its contention that it has a right to due process of law, the State has failed to identify that authority or offer any argument as to how it may apply to this case. Accordingly, any such arguments have been waived. I.A.R. 35(a); *Zichko*, 129 Idaho at 263.

D. <u>The District Court's References To Mr. Haws' Brady Violation In Paradis Were</u> Wholly Proper

Although this Court need not reach an examination of the propriety of the district court's references to Mr. Haws' prior misconduct in *Paradis* (because the State's claim is improperly presented as a due process violation), to the extent that it does, it should conclude the district court's references to Mr. Haw's misconduct in *Paradis* were proper.

Preliminarily, it is important to note that the State's characterization of the district court's actions is questionable. The State assumes that because the district court

⁸⁶ At a minimum, because the State has failed to present any argument as to how it believes it is a "person" under the Fourteenth Amendment, and it has likewise failed to offer any authority in support of the proposition that it is a "person" for Fourteenth Amendment purposes, it has waived any such arguments. *See* I.A.R. 35(a); *Zichko*, 129 Idaho at 263.

"refer[red]" to the facts of the *Paradis* case, it must have engaged in an "*extra-judicial investigation* into the facts of the *Paradis* case" (App. Br., pp.73, 74 (emphasis added).) While the State's charge sounds very dramatic, it is actually just misleading. In fact, the district court's brief synopses of *Paradis* were derived from the facts stated in the published Ninth Circuit opinions in Mr. Paradis' cases: *Paradis v. Arave*, 130 F.3d 385 (9th Cir. 1997), and *Paradis v. Arave*, 240 F.3d 1169 (9th Cir. 2001). (R. Vol. 3, p.137 & n.10; R. Vol. 4, p.542 & n.12.) The latter of these two cases had already been cited to the district court multiple times prior to the evidentiary hearing (*see* R. Vol. 1, p.382 (court minutes from a hearing early in the case reflecting the district court indicated it knew "a little" about *Paradis*) before it entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law. In other words, the court was already well-aware of the facts of *Paradis*—based on publicly-available information already highlighted to the court—without having to engage in any "extra-judicial investigation."

More importantly though, the district court's references to Mr. Haws' *Brady* violation in *Paradis* was in no way improper. The State cites two references the district court made to *Paradis*. (*See* App. Br., pp.73, 74.) The first reference was in the district court's findings of fact and conclusions of law following the evidentiary hearing. (*See* App. Br., pp.73, 74 (citing R. Vol. 3, p.137).) In that order, the district court *explicitly declined to make any finding* as to whether Mr. Haws had participated in the conspiracy to hide the Tira Arbaugh Letter from Mr. Charboneau. (R. Vol. 3, pp.137-38.) Thus, the district court simply pointed out Mr. Haws' prior misconduct in explaining its reasons for *not making a finding* as to Mr. Haws' alleged involvement in the conspiracy. (R. Vol. 3,

pp.137-38.) Thus, the reference to *Paradis* the State now complains about was just that—a reference. It was not a finding, and it had no impact whatsoever on the ultimate conclusions reached in the court's order.

The district court's second reference to Mr. Haws' misconduct in *Paradis* was in its summary disposition order. The purpose of that order, entered nearly a year after the district court made its findings of fact based on the evidence adduced at the evidentiary hearing, was not to make additional findings of fact based on the evidence offered at the evidentiary hearing. See I.C. § 19-4906(c) (providing that in evaluating a motion for summary disposition, the court should consider the entire record in the case, *i.e.*, "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions and agreements of fact, together with any affidavits submitted"). In fact, the purpose was not to make findings of fact at all; it was to decide whether, given that there were no remaining genuine issues of material fact, Mr. Charboneau was entitled to relief as a matter of law. See id. ("The court may grant a motion by either party for summary disposition of the application when it appears . . . that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."). Thus, it should not be surprising that the district court again declined to make any finding as to whether Mr. Haws was responsible for the concealment of the Tira Arbaugh Letter. (See R. Vol. 4, p.543 (referring to its earlier non-findings regarding Mr. Haws from it's a year earlier), pp.551-52 (inferring that the Tira Arbaugh Letter was concealed by Mr. Shedd at the behest of "Marl [sic] Haws or someone in law enforcement with an interest in the Charboneau case").) And the fact that the Paradis evidence had been ruled

inadmissible *at the evidentiary hearing* was patently irrelevant to the ultimate conclusion that Mr. Charboneau was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Admittedly though, in the summary disposition order, the district court did use the Paradis information to the State's detriment, and it even used that information to infer that Mr. Haws has a propensity to commit misconduct. (See R. Vol. 4, p.542.) However, its use of that information was not improper under the circumstances. At that stage of the proceeding, the district court was evaluating whether the Tira Arbaugh Letter was sufficiently corroborated to be clearly trustworthy, such that it was itself admissible evidence. One of the corroborating factors the district court considered was that Mr. Haws had committed a *Brady* violation in *Paradis*: "Tira could not have known when she wrote that letter [in 1989] that many years later [in 1996], that same type of claim would be asserted in another death penalty case against the same attorney. See Paradis v. Arave" (R. Vol. 4, p.542.) Thus, the district court used the Paradis evidence to determine a question of fact (whether the Arbaugh letter was sufficiently corroborated, such that its trustworthiness was clearly indicated) preliminary to its determination of the admissibility of another piece of evidence (Tira Arbaugh's letter). Used in this manner, the admissibility of the Paradis evidence under the Idaho Rules of Evidence was quite irrelevant. See I.R.E. 101(e)(1) (providing that the Rules of Evidence do not apply to "[t]he determination of questions of fact preliminary to admissibility of evidence when the issue is to be determined by the court under Rule 104(a)").⁸⁷

⁸⁷ The IPAA, as *amicus curiae*, argues the district court's reference to Mr. Haws' prior misconduct did not represent a reversal of its ruling at the evidentiary hearing that such prior misconduct was inadmissible under Rule 404(b), but if it was a reversal, such

In short, while the district court mentioned Mr. Haws' *Paradis* misconduct in its findings of fact and conclusions of law, and later relied upon Mr. Haws' *Paradis* misconduct in its summary disposition order, in neither case did the district court do anything improper. It did not conduct an "extra-judicial investigation"; it did not violate its own prior rulings; and it did not violate the Idaho Rules of Evidence.

E. <u>Any Impropriety In Referencing Mr. Haws' Brady Violation In Paradis Was</u> <u>Harmless</u>

Even if the district court erred in referencing Mr. Haws' misconduct in Paradis,

the State is not entitled to relief because any such error was harmless. The Idaho Rules

of Civil Procedure provide as follows:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties is ground for granting a new trial or for setting aside a verdict or for vacating, modifying, or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

I.R.C.P. 61.

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